
 
 
 

Corporate Parenting Panel 
 
 
Date Friday 15 December 2023 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham 

 
 

Business 
 

Part A 
 

Items which are open to the press and public 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Substitute Members   

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 10 November 2023                        
(Pages 3 - 10) 

4. Declarations of Interest   

5. Number of Children in Our Care and Care Leavers                            
- Verbal update from Deputy Corporate Director of Children's 
Services   

6. Ofsted Updates                                                                                    
- Verbal update from Deputy Corporate Director of Children's 
Services   

7. Proud Moments                                                                                             
- Verbal update from Head of Children's Social Care   

8. Use of Language for Children in Care                                                            
- Presentation of Named Nurse for Children in Care, NHS    
(Pages 11 - 14) 

9. Children in Care Council Update                                                                        
- Presentation of young people from the Children in Care Council  
(Pages 15 - 20) 

10. Care Leavers Service Positivitree                                                                     
- Report of Service Manager, Children and Young People's 
Services  (Pages 21 - 30) 

11. Performance Report Quarter 2                                                         
- Report of Corporate Equality and Strategy Manager                         
(Pages 31 - 48) 



12. Annual Report of the Independent Reviewing Officer Service                      
-  Report of Operations Manager, Children and Young People's 
Services  (Pages 49 - 84) 

13. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

14. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information.   

Part B 
 
Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open 

to the public (consideration of exempt or confidential information) 
 
15. Regulation 44 Visits: Independent Children's Residential Homes     

- Report of Head of Integrated Commissioning Service                      
(Pages 85 - 92) 

16. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

 
 

Helen Bradley 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
County Hall 
Durham 
7 December 2023 
 
 
To: The Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel 

 
 Councillor M Simmons (Chair) 

Councillor M Walton (Vice-Chair) 
 

 Councillors R Adcock-Forster, J Charlton, S Deinali, J Griffiths, 
T Henderson, C Hunt, B Kellett, M McGaun, L Mavin, S Quinn, 
A Reed, I Roberts, K Robson, K Rooney, A Savory, P Sexton, 
S Townsend, C Varty and M Wilson  

 
 Co-opted Members 
  

J Bell, C Brown, J Gamble, E Reed, W Taylor, F Tweddle and  
R Woods 
Young persons representative of the Children in Care Council 
 

 Contact: Jill Hogg Tel: 03000 269 711 

 
 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

At a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Committee Room 2, 
County Hall, Durham on Friday 10 November 2023 at 9.30 am 

 
Present: 

Councillor M Simmons (Chair) 

 

Members of the Panel: 

Councillors M Walton (Vice-Chair), R Adcock-Forster, S Deinali, J Griffiths,                 
B Kellett, L Mavin, A Reed, K Rooney and  C Varty  
 
Co-opted Members: 
Billie Leigh, J Gamble, Luke, W Taylor 
 

Also Present: 

Sharon Davey – Strategic Manager, Looked After and Permanence 
Rob Johnson – Project Manager, Investing in Children 
Deb Loraine – Service Manager  
Jamie Paddock – Lawyer, Children, Adults and Health 
Paul Rudd – Strategic Manager, Children’s Homes  
Martyn Stenton – Deputy Corporate Director of Children’s Services 
Jayne Watson – Senior Partnerships Officer   
 

1 Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J Charlton,                                
T Henderson, S Quinn, A Savory, M Wilson and Co-opted Members              
J Bell and F Tweddle.    
 
Apologies were received from officers S Davies, M Den Hollander,                      
R Farnham, R Harris, M Stubbs and J Tyler, a number of whom were absent 
due to preparations for the forthcoming Ofsted visit.  

 
2 Substitute Members  

 
Councillors Nicholson and Heaviside substituted for Councillors Charlton and 
Savory respectively.  
 

3 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 29 September 2023 were agreed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair.   
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



With regard to matters arising, the Chair remarked that she, the Portfolio 
Holder for Children and Young People and the Head of Children’s Social 
Care attended the Halloween party on 30 October, which was a great 
success, with everyone thoroughly enjoying themselves. 
 

4 Declarations of interest  
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 

5 Number of Children in our Care and Care Leavers  
 

Martyn Stenton, Deputy Corporate Director of Children’s Services updated 
the Panel on the current number of children looked after which had increased 
slightly on the previous month and stood at 1,187, including 32 young people 
placed for adoption, 306 care leavers and 75 unaccompanied asylum 
seeking young people. 
 

6 Ofsted Updates  
 

The Panel noted the forthcoming Ofsted focused visit on the Care Leaver’s 
Service taking place on 14 and 15 November.     
 
Details of the findings of a recent Ofsted inspection on New Lea children’s 
home which was rated outstanding, would be provided later in the meeting.   
  

7 Proud Moments  
 
Sharon Davey, Strategic Manager, presented a mobile ‘Positivitree’ for the 
meeting’s proud moment.  The branches of the tree contained positive 
messages from care experienced young people. The Strategic Manager 
explained that the ‘Positivitree’ initiative symbolised the commitment to help 
care experienced young people grow and thrive and the tree was taken to 
regional events to showcase the young people’s achievements. The 
individual messages will be collated, for a more detailed presentation at a 
future meeting, at which Panel members will also be asked to make their own 
pledges.   
 

8 Children in Care Council (CiCC) Update     
 
The Panel welcomed Billie Leigh and Luke to provide the Children in Care 
Council update (for copy of presentation see file of minutes).   
 
Billie Leigh informed the Panel that a meeting had taken place with the 
Bishop Auckland art exhibition co-ordinator and consents to display artwork 
were being sought from the young people.  Billie Leigh reported how much 
the young people were looking forward to the exhibition and its related 
events. 

Page 4



 
Luke spoke of the plans for Care Day in February 2024. The younger group 
had discussed that they would like to hold a talent contest and they had 
asked if it would be possible for Corporate Parenting Panel members to 
judge the contest.  The ‘ideas room’ had been a great success at the last 
Care Day event, therefore an ideas room will be included at the next event, 
and it was hoped this will generate discussions and ideas.   
 
Jayne Watson, Senior Partnerships Officer advised that members wishing to 
volunteer to be on the judging panel for the Care Day talent contest should 
contact her.   
 
Billie Leigh informed the Panel that she had attended the regional Children in 
Care Council conference at which life skills passport work had been a key 
discussion topic.  Billie Leigh had found it useful to speak to representatives 
from other regions who have this provision in place, to share their 
experience. 
 
The Senior Partnerships Officer referred to the joint CPP/CiCC meeting held 
in April at which the priorities for the year ahead (life skills & savings) were 
identified.  She informed the Panel that an update on the work taking place to 
progress these would be brought to the next meeting.  
 
At a recent CiCC meeting, one of the long-standing CiCC members gave a 
talk on their University course in media studies and he suggested that he 
could share his skills to help the CiCC produce short videos and media clips.  
 
Concluding the presentation, Billie Leigh presented a ‘thank you’ card to the 
Panel on behalf of the CiCC, for their contributions towards the entry into 
care packs. The Senior Partnerships Officer agreed to share this with all the 
Panel members and will ask for it to be shared with other members who also 
contributed to the project. 
 
Councillor Hunt asked the CiCC representatives if they would be willing to 
contribute to the Council’s response to the government’s consultation on the 
creation of a smokefree generation.  The representatives responded that the 
CiCC would be happy to participate.  Councillor Hunt thanked them in 
advance for their assistance and expressed the value of including young 
people’s voices in the consultation to shape future government policy on 
smoking and vaping. 
 

Page 5



 

9 Protected Characteristics Update   
 
The Deputy Director of Children’s Services referred to the discussions at 
previous meetings regarding the Council adopting care experience as a 
protected characteristic. The Panel noted that a survey was undertaken to 
gather the young people’s views which was overwhelmingly positive, 
however, the survey sample was relatively small.  The Vice-Chair suggested 
that a wider reach may be achieved through the Council’s consultation 
mechanism.  The Deputy Director agreed that this would be investigated.  
The next steps, following consultation, would be to prepare a report for the 
Corporate Parenting Panel which, if agreed, would then be taken forward to 
full Council for approval.  The Panel would be kept informed of progress.    
 

10 Pre-Birth Intervention Update  
 
The Panel received a report and presentation on the Pre-Birth Intervention 
Service (PBIS), delivered by the Deputy Corporate Director of Children’s 
Services (for copy of report and presentation see file of minutes).   
 
The Deputy Corporate Director explained the aim of the service was to 
enable babies to remain with their parents or wider birth family, when it was 
safe to do so and when that was not possible, to ensure babies were 
permanently placed with carers, as soon as possible.  The criteria for 
receiving the pre-birth intervention service were outlined and it was made 
clear that parents must provide meaningful consent to receive the service.  A 
case study illustrated a specific occasion when the service had strived to 
provide continued support to a mother which resulted in a positive outcome 
for mother and baby who were able to remain together.  

Resolved: 
 
That the report and presentation be noted. 
 

11 Supporting Solutions and Family Group Conferencing Annual 
Report 
 
The Panel received a report and presentation delivered by Deb Loraine, 
Service Manager on activity and developments within the Supporting 
Solutions, Edge of Care and Family Group Conferencing Service from April 
2022 to March 2023 (for copy of report and presentation see file of minutes).   

 
The Service Manager provided details of the various specialist areas within 
the Supporting Solutions Service.  The Panel noted that factors leading 
young people to be on the edge of care were often cross-cutting issues such 
as mental health, homelessness and risk of exploitation.   

Page 6



The service recognised the increasing number of young people entering 
care, with complex needs, who require specialist support.  Following a pilot of 
interventions available to younger children, this offer of support is now 
available to young people aged 7 to 11.  Plans for the future aim to create a 
multi-agency team to provide accommodation options and outreach support 
to children, young people and their families.  
 
The Panel noted the good outcomes for young people supported by the 
service during the year.   
 
Outcomes for young people open to Supporting Solutions were also positive 
with 83% of young people open to the service being supported to remain at 
home, either with family or in long-term placements.  
 
The Service Manager explained that Family Group Conferencing supported 
families to establish a sustainable plan to meet the needs of children and 
young people within their family unit.  Details were also provided of a recent 
piece of work on a national bid for a lifelong links programme to build 
positive, lasting support networks for young people.  More information on the 
progress of the bid would be provided in due course.  
 
In response to a question from the Vice-Chair who referred to the table at 
paragraph 32 of the report and asked what the outcome was for the child 
shown as ‘other’, the officer agreed to refer the question to the author of the 
report for clarification to be provided.  Following the meeting, the Service 
Manager clarified that this related to a review that was held for an unborn 
baby and at the time, outcome/assessments from the court were awaited, 
prior to baby being born.  
 
Resolved: 
 
That the report and presentation be noted.  
 

12 Contextualised Safeguarding Update  
 
The Panel received a report delivered by Deb Loraine, Service Manager on 
the work carried out by the Erase team during the period 1 April 2022 to 31 
March 2023 (for copy of report and presentation see file).   

 
Details were provided of the two specialist teams who support children and 
young people at risk of harm outside their home i.e. the Adolescent 
Safeguarding and Exploitation Team (ASET) and the ERASE Team.  It was 
noted that the ASET function provided care-planning within statutory 
safeguarding procedures and delivered interventions to young people who 
were victims of, or were at risk of harm.   

Page 7



The team also provided specialist advice and guidance to social workers, 
where a young person was open to the service, reducing the need to change 
social worker.  The ERASE team supported young people, to reduce the risk 
of exploitation and missing from home and was responsible for providing 
Return to Home Interviews when children go missing from home/care. The 
service also provided interventions to those at high risk due to exploitation.  

Further to the Panel’s request at previous meetings for more in depth data in 
relation to missing incidents, the report provided a detailed summary of data 
relating to children missing from care. The Service Manager commented that 
for children in care, there was an increase in the number of children going 
missing from 125 to 142 in 2022/23.  

The number of missing episodes had increased from 868 to 992. Compared 
to the same period last year, there had been an increase in the amount of 
young people looked after being reported missing, and a decrease for those 
living with family. The Service Manager referred to the close work undertaken 
with children’s residential homes to understand the triggers for the individual 
young person and to establish the most appropriate support, which may 
include working with partners such as education and health.  Expertise from 
a therapeutic social worker was also available where trauma support was 
required. 

The Service Manager also provided information on development activity  
including audit work, to provide a better understanding of any gaps in 
provision.    

In response to a question from the Panel as to the support provided by the 
police, the Service Manager confirmed that there had been a significant 
improvement in partnership working since the previous Ofsted inspection and 
the approach was very much proactive, with improvements in the sharing of 
information and intelligence.  The strengthening of this relationship had 
helped to avoid incidents of victim blaming.  

The Strategic Manager for Children’s Homes referred to the recent audit of 
the service which showed feedback from families and carers on the support 
provided was extremely positive.  He assured the Panel that within his role, 
he also met with the police on a regular basis to ensure all children’s homes 
were meeting their requirements with regard to managing risk.  He also 
informed the Panel that a mandatory protocol was in place in all children’s 
homes which required that searches be carried out before a young person 
was reported to the police as missing, to ensure that only actual missing 
incidents were reported to the police. 

Resolved: 
 
That the report be noted. 

Page 8



 

13 Role of the Independent Visitor Service for Children in Care   
 
The Panel received a report and presentation delivered by the Deputy 
Corporate Director of Children’s Services on the role of the Independent 
Visitor Service (for copy of report and presentation see file of minutes).  

The Deputy Corporate Director summarised the current position of the 
service and highlighted developments over the past 12 months.  It was 
reported that Since August  2022, 43 new Independent Visitors had been 
recruited and there had been 73 referrals since October 2022, with 60 
matches.  

In terms of future developments, the specific target was the Durham County 
Council target of ensuring 50 referrals of children in care, with 30 matched 
annually.  The aspirational target was to meet the National Independent 
Visitor Network target to match 10% of children in care.  

In conclusion, the Deputy Director of Children’s Services asked that if 
members were aware of anyone who would like to volunteer to be an 
Independent Visitor, that they should inform either himself or the author of 
the report, Mark Den Hollander.  

Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
 

14 Such other business  
 
Members were remined that the date of the next meeting coincided with 
Christmas Jumper Day 2023 and they were encouraged to wear their 
Christmas jumpers and make a donation to charity.  A prize would be given 
for the best jumper, as judged by the young people of the Children in Care 
Council.  
 
The Vice-Chair informed members that, should they be approached by their 
AAP Co-ordinators with regard to the Supply Packs funding commitments, 
they should inform them that the project should be progressed by November.   
 

15 Exclusion of the public  
 
Resolved: 
 
That under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public  
be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely discussion of exempt information as defined 
in paragraph 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

Page 9



 

16 Regulation 44 Visits  
 
The Strategic Manager for Children’s Homes provided an update on 
residential children’s homes, Regulation 44 reports and a recent children’s 
home Ofsted inspection which was rated as outstanding (for copy of 
presentations see file of minutes). 
 
Regulation 44 alignment was also discussed and members interested in 
undertaking Regulation 44 visits, or attending the training session scheduled 
for 15 December before making a decision, were asked to inform the Senior 
Partnerships Officer. 
 
 

Page 10



Use of 
language for 

Children in 
Care

Jane Lowther

&

Kelly Dudding

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 8



A selection of 
10 CiC health 
assessments 
were chosen at 
random.

2 Initial Health Assessments (IHA)

2 County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust (CDDFT)

2 Harrogate and District NHS Foundation 
Trust (HDFT)

2 Out of area

2 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking
Children (UASC)

P
age 12



Improvement 
Findings:

 There was use of abbreviations in some 
assessments. If we use abbreviations then the 
complete description should be detailed initially.

 There was evidence in one of the IHA’s that there 
had been a ‘cut and paste’ from another 
assessment as the wrong name and sex was 
referenced in the family history section.

 There is use of the word ‘declined’ in one 
assessment when describing the young person 
choosing not to accept a referral.

 There is reference to ‘contact’ in one Review 
Health Assessment (RHA) as opposed to ‘family 
time’, however this was when discussing indirect 
contact (for an adoption placement).

P
age 13



Positive 
Findings:

Overall the language used was found to 
be positive.

The voice and lived experience of the 
child was clear throughout the 
assessment.

The assessments contained lots of 
description and detail.

The assessments acknowledged the 
young person’s identity and dignity.

The care plan was individualised for each 
child depending on need.

P
age 14



Presentation by Luke and Billie-Leigh  

CiCC CPP representatives

and Robert Johnson, Investing in Children

Durham Children in Care Council (CiCC) – November 2023 Highlights.

• The older CiCC group have contributed ideas to the leaving care packs. For example, 

being provided with a reference, CV as well as a guide to living locally and shopping. CiCC 

also liked the suggested name of the packs which is ‘Good Start Packs’.

• Both CiCC groups have began to review the ‘Language that Cares’ document to update it. 

• CiCC members and foster carers have reviewed the Freedom Card. A report has been 

shared with DCC to consider in line with applying for Investing in Children Membership 

Award™ based on changes that can be made. 

• CiCC members shared their ideas and opinions regarding pathway plans.

• CiCC members are participating in a Sub group with DCC staff to share ideas and 

suggestions about care reviews alongside the IRO Team and the Participation and 

Engagement Officer to make them better.P
age 15

A
genda Item

 9



• One CiCC member was recently involved in the interview panel for a new Mockingbird Hub 

lead carer and received really positive feedback. 

• CiCC members are contributing to discussions about the opening of the care leavers hub 

in Stanley.  

• The Know, What, When guide has been finalised and young people involved will present 

this to CPP next year. 

• CiCC members have reviewed the Education Fun Fund guidelines. This has had an impact 

on the number of applications received that are written by young people. This includes an 

increase in case studies demonstrating the impact. 

• 156 application have been made of which 93 are for care experienced young people - See 

examples of applications recently written by young people and recent case studies on the 

following slides.

P
age 16



Quality football gear

“I feel very happy to get the education fun fund. I have enjoyed choosing

quality football gear and I can’t wait to use them. It makes me feel like I

just want to get out onto the pitch and I am excited for what the season

brings. I was able to get my new football boots customised with my

nickname on. I will let you know how the season is going in a few months

and I know this will help me with my learning. Thank you”

Written by Ryan

P
age 17



Just before the summer holidays Jakson was successful is 

being granted funding through Education Fun Fund 

programme for a new trampoline. 

This Trampoline has given Jakson opportunities to spend 

time safe outside in his garden over the summer holidays. 

Jakson loves trampolining at school and being able to do this 

at home also has been a massive help for Jakson. 

This has also given Jakson opportunities to share with his 

Grandma whilst she has been caring for him over the summer 

holidays and given them time to enjoy outdoors together!

Feedback from Jakson’s Dad Lee:

“Thank you for the trampoline for Jakson its great. It has now enabled him to get out of 

the house as I don't have a garden and it will help his confidence  , I just have a yard 

and he now can go outside in the yard and play on the trampoline it is very much 

appreciated thank you again” 

Also, a big thank you from Jakson!

P
age 18



Fishing & Learning

P
age 19



Thinking of others at ChristmasP
age 20



 

             

 Corporate Parenting Panel  

 16 December 2023 

 Care Leavers Service - Positivitree 

 

Report of Lesley Baldry, Service Manager, Care Leavers, UASC, 
Permanence and Adoption, Children and Young People’s Service, 
Durham County Council. 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

None 

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report is to explain the National Bench Marking Forum Positivitree 
campaign and how Durham Care Leavers Service have put this into 
action.   

Executive summary 

2 The touring tree will be taken to Corporate Parenting Panel by the care 
leavers service management team and young people on 16 December 
2023, in order to help the panel, understand the purpose of the tree and 
gain pledges.  

3 At each event held at Sherburn and Stanley Hubs, the touring tree will 
be present, its purpose will be explained, and further pledges gained. 

4 The touring tree will travel to County Hall in January 2024 to gain 
pledges from senior managers of all service areas based in County Hall. 

5 Throughout the first few months of 2024 the touring tree will visit 
businesses, employers and leisure facilities throughout County Durham. 

6 Young people will meet at the Stanley Hub monthly to review pledges 
and identify which are most important to young people.  

7 Feedback will be fed into the regional board by the care leavers service 
manager, this will begin on 27 November 2023 at the next regional 
board meeting. 

 

 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 10



Recommendations 

8 Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to:  

(a) Note the update of the Care Leavers Service work with the 
Positivitree 

(b) Make their own pledges on the day. 

 

  

Page 22



Background 

9 The National Bench Marking Forum started the Positivitree campaign as 
a way of raising awareness of the needs of Care Leavers and raising 
aspirations for Care Leavers in their communities to mark their 20th 
anniversary.  

10 The Care Leavers Service management team attended a national event 
in Birmingham as part of this event signed up to be part of Positivitree.  

11 We worked as a management group and with young people to decide 
how and when we would implement Positivitree in Durham. 

12 We decided to buy an apple tree to plant which would symbolise our 
Local Offer growing and a smaller wooden tree which we could take 
with us to gain pledges from staff within the local authority and to 
providers, leisure outlets, businesses and employers.  

13 On 26 October we held an event at Sherburn Hub where care leavers 
planted a tree in the garden and we started to gain pledges.  

Main implications 

14 The use of the Positivitree is already raising awareness of the Local 
Offer and growing the offer, pledges have already been made by:  

(a) Supported living providers; 

(b) Staff within children’s services; 

(c) Young people themselves. 

15 Young people have been involved in developing the Positivitree project 
from the beginning and are invested in being part of reviewing the offers 
and taking the “touring tree” out into the community.  

16 Ideas generated from pledges are being considered within the Care 
Leavers Service and by senior managers. 

17 Ideas from the pledges will be taken to the regional board to consider 
whether they can be taken up regionally.  

Conclusion 

18 The Positivitree is working well within Durham, our young people have 
really bought into the idea, and this is being actively supported by senior 
management. 

Author 

Lesley Baldry   Tel:  07717541944  

Page 23



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

There are no legal implications, this project has been agreed by the National 

Leaving Care Benchmarking Forum legal department.  

Finance 

Any high-level financial implications of the pledges given will be considered 

via senior management and CSCMT.  

Consultation 

Young people both nationally and locally were consulted in the development 

of this project.  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

There is equal access for all care leavers to any of the local offer.  

Climate Change 

A tree has been planted and the touring tree is re cycled.  

Human Rights 

This fits well with Article 2 – Right to Life.  

Crime and Disorder 

No implications. 

Staffing 

Staff from the Care Leavers Service are supporting young people with this 

project.  

Accommodation 

The care leaver Hubs are used for a base for the trees.  

Risk 

There is no risk to young people as the care leavers management team will 

risk assess where the touring tree goes and ensure young people are safely 

supported by a staff member at all times. 

Procurement 

No implications.  

Page 24



Care Leavers Service

Positivitree

P
age 25



Background 

• The Care Leaver Service Management Team attended a 
Bench Marking Event in Birmingham and one of the visions 
discussed was the Positivitree. 

• The Idea behind the tree it is to build the future vision of the 
Care Leaver Service by increasing awareness and seeking 
pledges from partners to improve the Local Offer. 

• Quote from the Bench Marking Forum

“The tree will symbolise our aspirations for care experienced 
young people and determination to help them to grow and 

thrive.” 

P
age 26



What did we do in Durham 
We met as a Care Leaver Management Team to consider what we 
wanted to achieve from what we know young people want, some 
ideas being:

• Improving our Local Offer.

• Having a county wide approach to corporate parenting.

• How to create opportunities for training/employment with 
local businesses.

• How do we improve the offer at our HUBS. 

• We bought an actual apple tree to plant in our garden at 
Sherburn Hub.

• We got a “Touring Tree”.

• We planned an event at the HUB on 26 October 2023, where 
Care Leavers planted the tree, and we started the pledge 
process. 

P
age 27



“I pledge that UC shall NOT sanction care leavers and if they 

do, we will challenge them.”

“Work regionally & ensure care leavers get the same offer 

no matter where they live and then take this nationally..”

“Handcrafted will run practical activity sessions in Sherburn 

Hill, Stanley and Durham.”

“I pledge to help young people identify who is important to 

them and help them keep in touch with those people..”

“To support young people and give them a voice and enable 

them to achieve their full potential.”

Some of our pledges P
age 28



• We will use these to develop our Local Offer by:

• Taking our touring tree to local businesses, leisure 
facilities, employers, corporate parenting and to 
senior managers for further pledges. 

• Taking pledges to the Regional Board for 
consideration throughout the region.

• Meeting with young people to identify priority 
areas and taking these to Senior Managers for buy 
in.

• Working with local employers and businesses 
including as part of a job fayre early next year. 

What happens next?

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

             

        

 Corporate Parenting Panel 

15 December 2023 

Performance Update 

 

Report of Stephen Tracey, Corporate Equality and Strategy 
Manager, Durham County Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

None. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of the presentation is to provide the Corporate Parenting 
Panel with an overview of performance in relation to children in our care  
and care leavers. 

Executive summary 

2 The Strategy Team Leader – Children and Young People’s Services will 
deliver a presentation at the meeting giving an overview of 
performance. 

Recommendation 

3 Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to note 
information contained within the presentation and comment accordingly. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 11



Background 

4 A quarterly performance management framework is presented to 
Corporate Parenting Panel which is structured around the Local 
Government Association’s Key Lines of Enquiry for Corporate Parenting 
Panel members. 

Conclusion 

5 Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel will be sighted on 
performance in relation to the children in our care and care leavers, and 
will have an opportunity to discuss performance at the meeting. 

 

Other useful documents 

• Quarterly Performance Scorecard 

 

Author 

Helen McAloon   Tel:  03000 268 026 

  

Page 32



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

We have a statutory duty to comply with all duties in relation to the children 

and young people who are in the care of DCC    

Finance 

N/A 

Consultation 

N/A 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

N/A 

Climate Change 

N/A 

Human Rights 

N/A 

Crime and Disorder 

N/A 

Staffing 

N/A 

Accommodation 

N/A 

Risk 

N/A 

Procurement 

N/A 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



County Durham Corporate Parenting Panel: Performance Management Framework

What are the characteristics of our cohort of children in care and care leavers?

Measure 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Q2

2023/24
England North East

Rate of CLA per 10,000 u18 population [Number]
82.9
[833]

90
[914]

93
[949]

99
[985]

105
[1067]

117
[1190]

70
(2021/22)

110
(2021/22)

Age and length of time in care
See 

presentation
N/A N/A

CLA Placement breakdown
See 

presentation
N/A N/A

Percentage of CLA placed over 20 miles (outside LA boundary) 7% 10% 9% 10%
11%

[117/1071]
14.4%

[170/1182]
16%

(2021/22)
10%

(2021/22)

Number of children placed for adoption 25 75 39 38 26 32 N/A N/A

Percentage of CLA who are unaccompanied asylum seeking 
children [Number] u18

0.4%
[3]

0.1%
[1/914]

0.1%
[1/949]

2%
[16/982]

5%
[52/1067]

6%
[75/1190]

7%
(2021/22)

2%
(2020/21)

Social worker caseloads
See 

presentation
N/A N/A

P
age 35



Do our partner agencies understand their role in supporting us as corporate parents?

Measure 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Q2

2023/24
England North East

Percentage of CLA with a missing incident during the year 5.0% 5.5% 7.0% 9.9%
10%

[143/1427]
15%

[203/1330]
11%

(2021/22)
11%

(2021/22)

Percentage of children on Child Exploitation and Vulnerability 
Tracker that were CLA^

35%
[51/144]

28%
[69/244]

Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaire - Average score NND 13.6 13.5 13.9 14.6
Reported 
annually

13.8
(2021/22)

14.3
(2021/22)

Percentage of looked after children aged 10 and above convicted 
or subject to a Youth Caution or Youth Conditional Caution during 
the year [number of children]*

4.6%
[17]

3%
[11]

3.0%
[11]

2.6%
[12]

3.2%
[15]

3.9%
[26]

2%
(2021/22)

2%
(2021/22)

How are we giving children and young people the chance to express their views, wishes and feelings? How do we know those are being acted on?

Measure 2018/19 2019/20
2020/21

[Provisional]
2021/22 2022/23

Q2
2023/24

England North East

Number of CLA accessing an independent visitor 16

69 (59 
CDYJS, 10 
AFC) 15 

waiting for 
match

46
(45 CDYJS, 1 

NEPACS)

61
(59 CDYJS, 1 

NEPACS)

P
age 36



Are we providing stable environments for children in our care?

Measure 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Q2

2023/24
England North East

Percentage of CLA with 3 or more placements during the year
10.7%

[90 of 840]
7.6%

[70 / 922]
8%
[73]

12.4%
[122 / 985]

9%
[98 / 1067]

10%
[118 / 1190]

10%
(2021/22)

10%
(2021/22)

Percentage of CLA continuously for 2.5 years or more aged under 
16 who were living in the same placement for at least 2 years

63.9%
[195 of 305]

59.8
[ 201 / 336]

67%
[225]

65.8%
[244 / 371]

68%
[264 / 389]

65%
[262 / 401]

71%
(2021/22)

70%
(2021/22)

Average number of days between a child entering care and 
moving in with its adoptive family, adjusted for foster carer 
adoptions (A10) [Last 12 months]

430
[2015-18]

428
[2016-19]

439
[2018-2021]

466 423 449
454
(Q1 

2022/23)
N/A

Average time between an LA receiving court authority to place a 
child and the LA deciding on a match to an adoptive family (A2) 
[Last 12 months]

NND
192

[2016-19]
178

[2018-2021]
144 157 182

184
(Q1 

2022/23)
N/A

Percentage of children adopted from care (as % of total children 
leaving care) [number of children adopted shown in brackets]

12.3
[39 of 316]

16%
[55 / 352]

18%
[54 / 304]

19%
[65]

18%
[65/360]

13%
[18/140]

10%
(2021/22)

13%
(2021/22)

Number of Mainstream Foster Carers (Approved in period YTD) 26 12 21 29 12 12 N/A N/A

Number of Friends and Family Foster Carers (Approved in period 
YTD)

129 121 190 150 219 TBC N/A N/A

Number of Adopters (Approved in period YTD) 22 25 47 40 35 9 N/A N/A

P
age 37



What are we doing to look after the health and wellbeing of children in our care?

Measure 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Q2

2023/24
England North East

Initial Health Assessments completed within 20 working days of 
the child becoming looked after

63% 73% 73% 59% 65% 50% N/A N/A

CLA with the required number of health assessments 91% 94% 91% 93% 95% 89%
89%

(2021/22)
92%

(2021/22)

CLA who have had a dental check 85.5% 87% 41% 85% 95% 73%
70%

(2021/22)
72%

(2021/22)

CLA whose immunisations were up-to-date 99.3% 99.0% 90.0% 90.9% 80.8%
Reported 
annually

85%
(2021/22)

86%
(2021/22)

CLA whose development assessments were up to date (CLA 12+ 
months and aged 5 or younger at 31 March)

95.0% 97.0% 83.0% 98.9% 96.9%
Reported 
annually

89%
(2021/22)

95%
(2021/22)

% CLA identified as having a substance misuse problem in the 
year

1.9% 2.0% Data Error 0.9% 1.0%
Reported 
annually

3%
(2021/22)

3%
(2021/22)

Percentage of new presentations to drug and alcohol treatment 
during period who were CLA [Number] YTD

10%
[18 of 185]

10%
[21 of 216]

TBC
17%

[27/149]
13%

[17/126]
13%

[5/40]
44%

(2020/21)
33%

(2020/21)

Care leavers aged 17-21 who are pregnant or mothers (as a % of 
female care leavers)

26.3%
[25/95]

29%
[32/111]

19%
[22/114]

20%
[25/123]

N/A N/A

Care leavers aged 17-25 who are pregnant or mothers (as a % of 
female care leavers)

30%
[39/132]

24%
[33/137]

25%
[36/143]

N/A N/A

P
age 38



What are outcomes like for our care leavers?

Measure 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Q2

2023/24
England North East

Percentage of care leavers age 18-21 who have stayed
with their foster carer

N/A N/A N/A
21%
[50]

18%
[44]

15%
[37]

Percentage of care leavers aged 17-18 in education, employment 
or training (EET)

63.9%
[53 of 83]

65%
[ 55 / 84 ]

76%
[ 59 / 78]

66%
[55 / 83]

65%
[68 / 104]

61%
[53 / 87]

66%
(2021/22)

67%
(2021/22)

Percentage of care leavers aged 17-18 in suitable 
accommodation

96.4%
[80 of 83]

90%
[ 76 / 84 ]

95%
[74 / 78]

93%
[76 / 82]

86%
[89 / 104]

90%
[78 / 87]

90%
(2021/22)

93%
(2021/22)

Percentage of care leavers aged 17-18 in higher education
0%
[0]

0%
[0]

0%
[0 / 78]

6%
[5 / 83]

0%
[0/104]

1%
[1 / 87]

4%
(2021/22)

3%
(2021/22)

Percentage of care leavers aged 19-21 in education, employment 
or training (EET)

54.0%
[87 of 161]

54%
[ 94 / 175 ]

56%
[110 / 197]

61%
[129 / 213]

56%
[127/228]

53%
[89 / 167]

55%
(2021/22)

52%
(2021/22)

Percentage of care leavers aged 19-21 in suitable 
accommodation

94.4%
[152 of 161]

83%
[ 144 / 174 ]

90%
[177 / 196]

85%
[186 / 218]

98%
[157 / 160]

96%
[160 / 167]

88%
(2021/22)

90%
(2021/22)

Percentage of care leavers aged 19-21 in higher education
8.7%

[14 of 161]
9%

[16 / 175 ]
6%

[11 / 197]
8%

[18 / 213]
9%

[21 / 228]
13%

[21 / 167]
7%

(2021/22)
7%

(2021/22)

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Children in our Care

Performance update Q2 2023-24

P
age 41



Children in our Care: 1,190
75 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children

Slight increase in u1 CiC starts as % of all CiC starts
Reduction in age 1-4yr olds

Increase in 5-9 and 10-15yr olds

Increase in overall number of CiC and rate is now above 
regional and statistical neighbour average 

Around a third of children have been in care for less than 12 
months whilst around a quarter have been in care for over 5 

years 285 children became a child in care
160 children left care April – September 2023

This will increase as UASC move to Durham through 
the National Transfer Scheme

70% of Social Workers in our Children in Care and Care Leavers Teams had fewer than 25 cases, 5% with 30+

LoT in care Under 6 Months 6-12 Months 1-2 Years 2-5 Years 5 Years+ Grand Total

No. 241 164 200 294 285 1184

% 20% 14% 17% 25% 24% 100%

P
age 42



Initial Health Assessments

Reduction in children in care receiving an Initial Health 
Assessment within 20 working days of coming into care. 

Rising children coming into care including UASC has affected 
this indicator

Improvement in required paperwork submitted in timescale to 
71% but still room for improvement

Review Health 
Assessments

Review Health Assessments completed 
within timescale have also reduced – 44 
out of timescale in Q1

P
age 43



Placements and Placement Stability
A higher proportion of children in Durham are placed in foster placements 
and in in-house provision to our benchmarks. 

Placement Stability remains an ongoing area of focus – children with 3+ 
homes in one year is in line with benchmarks

Long term stability remains slightly worse than benchmarks

Children in Family Settings:

Reduction in proportion but increase in numbers
Reduction in number and % in in-house FC
Increase in other placement types

Placement type No. % No. % No. %

Friends and Family 134 15% 126 14% 228 19% 94 70% 102 81%

IFA 126 15% 159 18% 235 20% 109 87% 76 48%

In House Foster Care 422 49% 430 48% 387 33% -35 -8% -43 -10%

Placed For Adoption 24 3% 23 3% 32 3% 8 33% 9 39%

Placed With Parents 66 8% 62 7% 95 8% 29 44% 33 53%

Family Settings 772 89% 800 89% 977 83%

Grand Total 866 902 1184 318 282

% change 

pre-COVID

04-Jun-19 11-Mar-20 03-Oct-23 No. 

change

% change 

on Jun19

No. 

change

P
age 44



Missing Children

Return to 
Home 

Interviews

1077 
Offered

732 
Accepted

728 
Completed Increase in children in care 

with a missing incident and 
incidents per child

Improvement in return to 
home interview completion 
rate

152
Children in 

care

1093
missing 

episodes

P
age 45



264 Care Leavers aged 17-21Care Leavers

27 of our care leavers are 
recorded as being 
unaccompanied asylum 
seekers (UASC) and 26 are 
male aged 17-24, 1 female.

Currently have 219 YPS 
team monitoring open 
cases in addition to the 
264 aged 17-21. 

P
age 46



Care Leavers – suitable accommodation

The proportion of care leavers 
in suitable accommodation 
aged 17-18 is 91% (in line with 
benchmarks) and for ages 19-
21 is 96% (above benchmarks)

Majority in unsuitable 
accommodation are in custody

P
age 47



Care Leavers - Education, Employment or Training

The proportion of care 
leavers in Education, 
Employment or Training 
aged 17-18 is 63% which is  
in line with benchmarks. 

For those aged 19-21 this 
is 53%, also in line with 
above benchmarks

P
age 48



 

 

Corporate Parenting Panel 

10 November 2023 

Annual Report of the Independent Reviewing 

Officer Service - Child Protection & Children in Care    

 

Report of John Pearce, Director of Children and Young People’s 
Services, Durham County Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

None. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 This annual report has been produced by the Independent Reviewing 
Officers (IRO) service in line with statutory guidance and covers the 
period 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023. It provides an overview of the 
work undertaken by the service in relation to child protection and 
children who are cared for by the local authority. 

2 The report highlights what is working well, what we are worried about 
and areas for improvement. It identifies emerging themes, areas of 
strength, and identifies priorities for 2023/24. 

Executive summary 

3 During the inspection of local authority children’s services (ILACS) for 
Durham in May 2022 Ofsted found that ‘IROs know their children well 
and provide effective oversight of children’s care plans’ and that, 
‘child protection conferences involve parents and extended family 
members. Child protection chairs welcome participation of 
children at child protection conferences.’ 

4 The IROs and child protection conference chairs are all qualified, 
experienced social workers registered with Social Work England (SWE). 
We have continued to implement our strength-based model of practice 
(Signs of Safety) and have worked closely with our partners, both at 
national and local level in developing practice and documentation. We 
have continued to be influential at a regional level in arranging training 
for IROs and developing practice. We have embraced advances in 
technology arising from the Covid-19 pandemic and offer a hybrid 
meeting model to ensure parents, children, and professionals are able 
to meaningfully engage in child protection conferences and child in care 
reviews.  

Page 49

Agenda Item 12



5 In response to the wishes of children and young people in Durham, we 
are adapting and challenging one another in our use of language, 
‘looked after’ is replaced with ‘cared for’, family ‘contact’ replaced with 
family ‘time’ and ‘care leaver’ replaced with ‘care experienced’. Our use 
of language will continue to be reviewed in line with children’s views and 
wishes.  

6 We have strengthened our tracking mechanism of children’s plans to 
evidence the voice of the child and the impact that intervention is having 
upon them as individuals. We have also updated our Dispute Resolution 
Process to strengthen how we evidence the impact of IRO challenge 
and influence upon outcomes for children.  

7 We have undertaken joint audit work with social care to understand in 
more detail a small increase in 2022/23 in the number of children with a 
repeat child protection plan. 

8 We have worked with partners to understand and address barriers in 
relation to agency representation at Initial Child Protection Conferences 
(ICPCs) and we are beginning to see improved attendance as a result. 
We have led a multi-agency working group to create a single report 
template for child protection conferences and produced accompanying 
training. Via consultation we have secured majority agreement from 
partners to adopt this across the partnership and this is due to be 
launched in September 2023. 

9 We have maintained a high level of performance in 2022/23 including 
85% of ICPCs held in timescale, 98% of Review Child Protection 
Conferences (RCPCs) held in timescale, with 92% of children 
participating in their reviews and 96% of cared for reviews held in 
timescale with 98% of children participating in their reviews. We 
continue to deliver a consistently high level of performance for 
timeliness of Foster Care Reviews with 96% held in timescales.   

10 Over the last year there has been an increasing volume of rearranged 
meeting requests. Reducing this trend moving forwards is a priority 
focus area for the service to prevent this from continuing to increase 
and mitigate any impact upon service delivery. 

11 A key focus for the year ahead will be to continue to evidence the voice 
of the child by encouraging children to chair their own cared for reviews 
and increase participation, feedback and attendance at child protection 
conferences and child in care reviews and increasing pre review visits 
to children who are cared for, by their IRO. 

12 We plan to further develop the performance dashboard and feedback 
methods for the IRO service to strengthen how we collate and analyse 
our learning from families to shape practice and future service delivery. 

Page 50



13 We will continue to embed our Signs of Safety/Signs of Success model 
by providing our IROs and Conference Chairs with learning and training 
opportunities and influence the future development of Signs of Safety 
systems and paperwork.  

14 We will be working with our partners regionally and nationally in 
response to recommendations from the care review so that we are 
aligned with other regional models and further strengthen skills and 
practice for children. 

Recommendation 

15 Corporate Parenting Panel is requested to: 

(a) Note the content of this report. 

  

Page 51



Background 

16 Working Together 2020 sets out the requirement for local authorities to 
ensure that they identify Child Protection Conference Chairs who are 
accountable to the Director of Children’s Services, and who are 
independent of operational or line management responsibilities for the 
cases that they are reviewing. In Durham, our IROs fulfil this role. 

17 The Independent Reviewing Officer service operates within the 
framework of the IRO Handbook. This is statutory guidance issued to 
local authorities in 2011. IROs have a responsibility to monitor and 
scrutinise care planning and plans for children and young people who 
are in care and ensure they are timely, effective and that our children 
and young people thrive and achieve their full potential. 

Role of Independent Reviewing Officers 

18 Our IROs chair reviews for children who are cared for by Durham 
County Council. IROs have an important role in making sure that 
decisions made in respect of any child in care, are decisions that are in 
the best interest of that the child or young person.  

19 Children and young people in Durham were involved in creating a 
fantastic resource to help children, their families, and networks to 
understand what it means to be a cared for child in Durham. This is 
accessible to children, parents, carers and professionals via the 
Durham Safeguarding Children’s Partnership (DSCP) website. 

20 The primary role and responsibilities of our IROs is to: 

• Review and scrutinise care plans to ensure they are legally 
compliant and in the best interests of the children; 

• Chair review meetings for children and young people in our care; 

• Ensure that the voice of the child is heard and given appropriate 
weight within care planning; 

• Promote corporate parenting to enable positive outcomes for 
children who experience care; 

• Chair placement order and adoptive placements, ensuring they 
are appropriate to the child’s needs; and 

• Provide a quality assurance and scrutiny function, and where 
appropriate challenge to Children’s Social Care in relation to 
practice. 

 

Page 52



21 Another key role for our IROs is to resolve problems within the care 
planning process. Where problems are identified in relation to a child’s 
plan, such as implementation of the plan or decisions relating to it, the 
IRO will try to resolve the issue informally with the social worker or their 
manager. The IRO will make a record of this initial informal resolution 
process on the child’s file. If the matter is not resolved in a timescale 
that is appropriate to the child’s needs, the IRO will consider taking 
formal action in line with our Resolution Process.  

22 IROs are well placed to identify both strengths and worries in relation to 
practice, including general themes, strengths, and weaknesses in 
relation to Durham’s corporate parenting responsibility for cared for 
children. Thematic concerns are identified and raised with senior 
operational managers, with a level of timeliness appropriate to their 
impact on the safety and welfare of children. 

Role of Child Protection Conference Chairs 

23 Child Protection Conferences are meetings that take place when we are 
worried that a child may be at risk of significant harm. Children and 
young people in Durham have been involved in creating a fantastic 
resource to help children, their families, and networks to understand 
what a Child Protection Conference is. This is accessible to children, 
parents, carers and professionals via the DSCP website. 

Professional Profile of the Children Independent Reviewing Team 

24 The IRO service sits within the safeguarding and professional practice 
service area and is managed by the Strategic Safeguarding and 
Professional Practice Manager. It is managed independently of 
children’s social care line management. Our management capacity 
includes a strategic manager, two service managers and a business 
manager. This provides us with the required management capacity to 
lead and develop our service and provide appropriate levels of support 
to our workers including via regular one to one supervision, group 
supervision and monitoring.  

25 We have 23 members of staff / 20.6 full-time equivalents (FTE) 
Independent Reviewing Officers / Child Protection Chairs who are all 
registered social workers with at least five years post qualifying 
experience. There are also two foster care review officers in our service 
who are responsible for chairing foster care review meetings and 
disruption meetings. 

26 Our Quality and Review Team provides minute taking services and 
administrative support to the whole IRO service. 

Page 53



27 The profile of our team is diverse, offering a wide range of knowledge 
and practice experience. We have benefitted from a stable group of 
Independent Reviewing Officers and Conference Chairs through 
2022/23 and have kept changes of Independent Reviewing Officers for 
children to a minimum with only one IRO leaving the service this year 
due to promotion within Durham County Council. Although two 
additional full time IRO posts were created this year to support the 
increased in demand for meetings, these have been difficult to recruit to 
therefore in 2022/23 we had two agency IROs in the service to cover 
these posts and to cover long term sickness. 

Caseloads 

28 The overall average caseload for our IROs is 84 which is a slight 
increase from the previous year. The current IRO handbook advises 
that IROs should have a caseload of between 50 and 70 and we 
continue to await central government’s updated IRO handbook for 
further guidance regarding caseloads. The IROs have a dual function 
within Durham to chair child protection conferences and cared for child 
reviews. We have excellent administrative support that mitigates the 
impact of these higher caseloads. 

29 All workers within our service receive monthly individual supervision and 
have access to informal supervision when required. Group supervision 
is also arranged monthly, and this provides the IROs with a reflective 
space to develop and practice their skills in using the Signs of Safety 
model. There continues to be a real commitment by the management of 
the service to ensure that the level of supervision and support is of the 
highest standard and this is reported on at monthly Children’s Social 
Care (CSC) performance meetings. 

Learning, Development and Practice Improvement 

30 As part of our commitment to the ongoing learning and development for 
our staff, our IROs have had access to a range of learning opportunities 
throughout the year. These have included legal briefings, staff briefings, 
DSCP training, and IRO specific training delivered by Edgehill 
University and funded by the North East Regional Network. We hold 
monthly team meetings at which research, practice guidance and 
learning lessons reviews are discussed and disseminated and have 
held strategic management-led workshops to continue to strengthen the 
voice of the child within recording. We also hold monthly performance 
clinics which have focused on ensuring IRO grip of performance such 
as IRO visits, progressing plans to discharge care orders where children 
are placed at home with their parents and also ensuring children in long 
term foster care have their placement with their carers formally agreed 
in line with their permanence plan. We also continue to learn from audit 
activity and feedback.  

Page 54



31 We identify training requirements through the supervision and appraisal 
process, training analysis and informed by external peer reviews, 
observations, and inspections. Some examples of the training which 
has been undertaken within this reporting year includes Mental Capacity 
Act Awareness, GDPR, Domestic Abuse - Homicide Timeline / Cyber 
Stalking / Gypsy Roma Traveller Experiences, Local Authority 
Designated Officer, Mental Health Awareness, Lone Worker Monitoring, 
Practice Educator, Suicide Awareness.  

32 In addition to the above training courses the IROs/Conference Chairs 
have continued to access the Community Care Inform database and 
Signs of Safety learning space which provide updates to articles and 
research in areas of social work practice. IROs are supported to have 
half a day’s space each month to support their continuous professional 
development to ensure they meet the SWE requirements each year. 

Regional, National and Local Links 

33 Our management team meets quarterly with IRO managers from across 
the North East. This regional group considers changes to policy and 
practice, gathers relevant statistical information at a regional level, 
works towards consistent practice in the region and has led to the 
development of a regional training plan for IROs.  

34 We have quarterly communication and working practice meetings 
between the Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service 
(CAFCASS) and our service. We also have quarterly meetings with 
Durham Police which has been extended to include representatives 
from Children’s Social Care senior management to further support and 
strengthen working relationships.  

35 We seek to maintain direct working relationships and links with Durham 
County Council Children’s Social Care services. The management team 
meets regularly with service managers in social care. There is an IRO 
linked to each team within children’s services. The IRO attends their 
team meetings periodically to share practice themes and discuss 
strengths or worries that they may have across both services.  

36 The IRO service managers offer an advisory role within several panels 
and working groups in children’s social care. These include Strategic 
Legal Panel; DSCP subgroups; Contextual Safeguarding Working 
Group; Advocacy Working Group; and the Voice and Change Group.  

37 IROs have taken responsibility for specific practice areas and are part of 
working groups to share good practice, support in service delivery and 
forge good working relationships. These include Harbour Domestic 
Abuse Service, Humankind’s drug and alcohol service, Children In Care 
Council, Investing in Children, North East Unaccompanied Asylum-

Page 55



Seeking Children, Residential Children’s Home Group, Private 
Fostering Group, Staying Put Working Group, Fostering Support 
Groups, National Youth Advocacy Service (NYAS) and Independent 
Visitor service. 

38 We continue to liaise with our local partners and are represented at the 
following groups: 

• Durham Safeguarding 
Children’s Partnership 
(DSCP)  

• Regional NE12 IRO 
Managers Group  

• Liquid Logic Operational 
Group  

• Children in Care Council 
(CiCC) 

• Corporate Parenting Board  

• Strategic Legal Panel  

• SoS Partnership Group 

• Quarterly meetings with 
Durham Police 

• Quarterly meetings with 
CAFCASS  

• DCC Legal and 
Safeguarding Meeting 

 

39 Attendance at the above groups provides the opportunity for improved 
working arrangements, which in turn leads to better outcomes for the 
children and families that we work with. It provides an opportunity to 
influence practice and procedural developments, which ultimately 
supports Durham County Council to deliver positive outcomes for the 
children of Durham.  

40 We support partners via training and development sessions. For 
example, we delivered a briefing across the partnership during 
Safeguarding Week (November 2022) to support staff in preparing for 
attending child protection conferences and delivered a session to newly 
qualified social workers on the role and purpose of the IRO. 

Development Activity 2022/23 

41 The IRO service’s key priorities and practice standards are shown in the 
table below. A summary of the development activity undertaken against 
these key priorities in 2022/23 is attached at Appendix 2 and the 
planned activity in 2023/24 is attached at Appendix 3. 

2022/23 Priorities 

Standard 1 
To actively seek, encourage and promote the voice of 
the child and their family in care planning.  

Page 56



Standard 2 
To provide challenge, scrutiny and oversight of care 
planning and challenge where things have not 
progressed for a child or young person. 

Standard 3 
To promote effective working relationships where 
practitioners work systemically to improve outcomes 
for children and young people.  

Standard 4 

To promote quality assurance as an expert 
practitioner from a ‘birds-eye view’ of practice, which 
will feed into change and shape service delivery for 
children and young people.  

Standard 5 
To have meaningful positive impact for the children 
and young people we seek to serve.  

Standard 6 
We will invest in our workforce to ensure social work 

practice will flourish.  

 

Resolution Process & Learning 

42 The IRO service continues to have a challenge process. The aim is to 
have a greater number of challenging but effective conversations 
between IROs and social work teams that make a real difference for 
children on the ground and shape practice. For those where children 
have delays or drift in care planning which cannot be agreed or 
progressed at a frontline practice level, formal challenges are raised 
and discussed in a Resolution Meeting. As quoted in the Ofsted 
Inspection May 2022, “IROs know their children well and provide 
effective oversight of children’s care plans.”    

43 The number of informal challenges that have taken place this year for a 
child under a child protection plan or child looked after care plan was 
151.  

44 The number of formal challenges increased to 222 in 2022/23 from 136 
in 2021/22, 100 in 2020/21 and 106 in 2019/20. 

DRP Level Total number 
of challenges 

CLA CP No Status 
(Null) 

2 120 100 7 13 

3 68 49 6 13 

4 33 29 2 2 

5 1 1 1  

 

Page 57



45 The most common reason for a level two challenge has been due to a 
delay in achieving a plan of permanence or a final plan not being ratified 
for a child. The reason for level three challenges varied but included 
reasons such as unregistered provisions, lack of progress in achieving a 
permanence plan, reports or social workers not being available for 
meetings. Level four challenges are escalated to a strategic manager 
and level five to the head of service. The main reason for these 
challenges has been in relation to children being in unregistered or 
unregulated placements. During the year 2022/23 there have been 14 
young people reviewed at level five. Formal meetings have been held 
for all these young people with the oversight of the head of service. The 
IRO service has offered additional monitoring, scrutiny, and focused 
challenge within care planning to ensure our children are in the right 
placement which meets their needs.  

46 The primary reason for resolution conversations has been delay in 
achieving a plan of permanence for a child or young person. We know 
this remains a key priority for the whole service, so you would expect to 
see these challenging conversations about this issue. Our ongoing 
aspiration is to ensure that where these conversations take place, and 
they are having the intended impact for children and young people. 
Deeper analysis of the impact of challenges is not always possible from 
the system currently in place therefore developing a methodology to 
understand the effectiveness of these challenges and analyse learning 
from the resolution process is an area for development over the coming 
year. 

Impact of Child Protection 

Performance Summary 

 

432 436 451 462 471 461 475
500 519 520 529 540

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Total Number of Children subject to a Child Protection Plan 2022/23 

Page 58



47 As of 31 March 2023, there were a total of 540 children in Durham who 
were subject to a Child Protection Plan. This equates to a rate per 
10000 children of 55 which is above national (42) but below regional 
north east (63) comparators. 

48 Durham’s rolling 12-month figure for 2022/23 is 85% (712/834) of all 
ICPCs completed within 15 working days. This is higher than national 
(79%) and in line with regional (85%) comparators and an increase in 
performance from 81% (578/713) in 2021/22 despite an increase of 121 
in the overall number of ICPCs held. 

49 In 2022/23, 98% of review child protection conference’s (1352/1377) 
were held within timescales. This is an increase from 93% in 2021/22. 

50 Children who were subject to a child protection plan for over 18 months 
accounted for 4.1% (26 children), a reduction from 5.2% (38 children) in 
2021/22. The proportion of children who ceased to be subject to child 
protection for over 24 months in 2022/23 was 0.3% (2 children) which is 
a reduction from 0.4% in 2021/22 and remains lower than in our 
comparators (national 4%, regional 2%, 2022/23). 

51 In 2022/23 the number of children subject to child protection plans for a 
period of 0-3 months was 18% (117/730) which is a slight increase from 
2021/22 (16%) but in line with national (18%) and slightly above 
regional comparators (16%). In most cases, children who cease to be 
subject to a protection plan at 0-3 months have become cared for. 

52 Whilst the number of children on a child protection plan for over 18 
months has reduced, the number of repeat children protection plans in 
2022/23 has increased slightly from 19% in 2021/22 to 21% (161/770) 
in 2022/23. In 2021/22, 19% of child protection plans which started were 
a repeat, including 6% within two years of a previous plan. The overall 
repeat rate was in line with our Regional (21%) and lower than national 
comparators (23%). 

53 Audit work was undertaken in relation to this cohort following data 
analysis indicating there was a disproportionately high number of 
children in the south of the region with a repeat child protection plan. 
This was less of a concern when the overall numbers were considered 
within the context of family units and did not identify any practice issues 
specific to South Durham in relation to repeat child protection plans.  

54 Reassuringly, there was evidence of improved practice for children with 
repeat child protection plans were being routinely considered at legal 
planning meetings with Public Law Outline (PLO) instigated where 
necessary. There was learning for the wider service about ensuring 
early identification of a network and evidencing effective tried and tested 

Page 59



safety plans with families so that there is a family / community system in 
place to safeguard children in the longer term. 

Participation and Views – Child Protection 

55 During the ILACS inspection of Durham Children’s Services in May 
2022 Ofsted found that ‘Child protection conferences involve 
parents and extended family members. Child protection chairs 
welcome participation of children at child protection conferences.’ 

56 When children attend a conference, the Conference Chair will invite 
them into a pre-meeting before the beginning of the meeting to support 
their engagement via several methods including telephone contact, 
conference calling, Microsoft Teams, and face-to-face meetings. Where 
a child is not attending a conference, the Conference Chair will 
encourage the professionals working with the child to collect their views 
using the child protection conference pack or the Mind of My Own 
application which is a digital participation tool and offer where 
appropriate a referral for advocacy.  

57 Within 2022/23 we received two new complaints relating to the IRO 
service both of which were resolved at stage one of the Council’s 
Corporate Complaints Policy. The Durham Safeguarding Children 
Partnership (DSCP) received no complaints regarding multi-agency 
child protection conferences in 2022/23. 

58 In 2022/23 the response rate from electronic parental questionnaires 
has been extremely low. As an alternative, Conference Chairs have 
encouraged families and professionals to provide direct feedback to the 
service. Comments have been positive, with parents and professionals 
indicating a positive experience in conference, some of which include: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“A found attending the conference online a lot better and easier for 

her. A liked the fact that she was able to express her views directly 

and felt that her voice was important, that she had been listened to 

and heard.” 

Feedback from a young person who chose to attend their 

conference virtually, April 2022 

 

Page 60



Impact of Cared for Children 

Performance Summary 

59 As of 31 March 2023, there were 1072 children in the care of Durham 
County Council. This equates to a current rate of 108 per 10000 which 
is above national (70) and just slightly below regional north east (110) 
comparators. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“The process has been clearly 

explained and a massive help 

and although nobody wants to 

enter the CP Process it has been 

a blessing to have the support 

and intervention and goals in 

place. The meetings have been 

informative and it is useful…..to 

gather views and scores to hear 

how safe or improved things 

are….”  

Feedback from parents and 

grandmother, September 2022 

 

 

“I would just like to feedback, firstly how 

welcoming the Conference Chair is and 

also how much she values our input from 

health. This is really apparent and is a 

lovely demonstration of multiagency 

working together to safeguard children. It is 

very clear that she has an excellent 

approach with the families, holding 

conferences very much at their level and 

gaining their perspective….” 

 Feedback from Specialist Nurse, 

September 2022 

 

Page 61



60 Within this reporting year although there has been a slight decrease 
from 2021/22 figures (99%), we have maintained a high level of 
performance for timeliness of child and young people’s review meetings 
with 96% (3027/3165) of child in care reviews held in timescales. This is 
against the backdrop of an increased number of children in our care. 

61 In 2022/23, the IRO service has ratified 208/271 care plans for children 
in our care, compared to 213 in 2021/22. 139 children had their final 
plan ratified within six months of becoming cared for (51%). 37 children 
(14%) within eight months, 27 children (10%) within 12 months and 5 
children (2%) over 12 months. 63 (23%) children did not have their final 
plan ratified where the plan ratified target date fell before 31st March 
2023. In most of these cases, the delay related to ongoing court 
proceedings. 

62 The IRO service provides the Independent Panel Chair for all Secure 
Reviews and on occasion another IRO will act as a panel member. 
These IROs are not the child’s allocated IRO and for independence, will 
not have been involved in their care planning.  During 2022/23 we 
chaired 16 Pre-Secure Planning Meetings (23 in 2021/22) in relation to 
8 children (11 in 2021/22). We have chaired 33 Secure Reviews (19 in 
2021/22) in relation to 10 (7 in 2021/22) children living in Secure 
Accommodation throughout the year.  

63 The IROs chair Private Fostering Reviews on an annual basis. There 
have been 15 new private fostering arrangements between April 2022 - 
March 2023 who have required a Private Fostering review which is an 
increase from eight new arrangements in the previous year.  

64 We have one full time Foster Care Reviewing Officer (FCRO) and one 
part time Foster Care Reviewing Officer. The timeliness of foster care 
reviews is a real strength within the IRO service which are held 
alongside colleagues within the fostering service. There were 216 
Foster Care Reviews carried out, 96% of which were within timescales.  
This is an increase from 94% in 2021/22 and equates to eight reviews 
out of timescales. 

65 The IRO service chair disruption meetings for children who have moved 
in an unplanned way from their home after living there for two years or 
more and who are permanently matched with their foster carers, or the 
issues are complex and require an independent chair.   

66 From September 2022 the responsibility for chairing disruption meetings 
has sat within the IRO service and chaired by the two FCROs. Both 
these officers have been instrumental in updating the disruption meeting 
procedure during this year which has been approved by the strategic 
manager for fostering and has been shared with staff. The procedure 

Page 62



will ensure there is a consistent approach in the preparation of and the 
chairing of these meetings and enable consistent oversight in one 
service area of any lessons to be learned and feed into any strategic 
planning or training which may be required.  

67 To date, the FCROs have chaired 5 disruption meetings from 1 
September 2022 to 31 March 2023. The key themes from these 
meetings have been around the changes in social workers both within 
the fostering service and the child’s social work team and the impact 
this has had on supporting the placement. In none of these meetings 
was there any evidence that the foster carers had not acted 
appropriately leading to the placement ending.  

68 There has been significant improvement in the IROs voice within Care 
Proceedings to ensure their views are represented in court. IRO 
standalone statements are now routinely written and submitted to court 
for the final hearing. Feedback from CAFCASS is that these statements 
are comprehensive and valued. 

Participation and Views – Cared for Children 

69 The participation of children and young people in their own reviews is 
vitally important to the IRO service and the table below shows how 
successful we have been in promoting this participation below. This was 
recognised in the Ofsted Inspection in May 2022 which states, “IROs 
visit children in their homes to gain their views. Parents, carers, 
and children are encouraged to participate in their review 
meetings. This helps to ensure that children and their families are 
held at the centre of decision-making and planning.” 

How Child Participated in 
their CLA Review 

Total number of 
children 2021/22 

Total number of 
children 2022/23 

Child was under four years of 
age at the time of the meeting 

561 637 

Child attended and spoke for 
themselves 

968 1256 

Child attended and advocate 
spoke 

40 58 

Child attended and gave 
views non- verbally (Children 
with Disabilities)  

9 20 

Child attended without 
contribution 

19 48 

Child did not attend, advocate 
shared views 

493 461 

Page 63



 

70 A group of young people from Durham’s Children in Care Council 
(CiCC) along with a group of IROs developed an animation video to 
explain what a looked after review is and what to expect from the IRO 
service, which is on the CiCC website. This is also accessible to 
children, parents, carers and professionals via the DSCP website. 

71 We continue to share our IRO profiles with young people when they first 
become cared for and over the coming year the IRO profiles will be 
refreshed to ensure they are up to date and have a consistent format. 
We will do this in consultation with the Children in Care Council and the 
Participation and Engagement Officer. 

72 We have refreshed the IRO Guide for Children and Young People 
(attached as Appendix 4) and families to understand what the role of the 
IRO is. These will be included in the new Entry in Care Packs that are 
being introduced.  

73 We have created an IRO Words and Pictures (attached as Appendix 5) 
which is a visual road map of the care plan journey through the review 
process for children in our care. 

74 We encourage carers and young people to express their views on how 
they find their review meetings. 

75 We have two IROs linked to the CiCC who are the key points of contact 
between the IRO service and the CiCC and who actively feedback 
children’s views to support changes where needed, but also to 
celebrate the successes we find.  

76 We continue to report direct to the Corporate Parenting Board and seek 
feedback from the Investing in Children Group to inform our service 
needs and developments for the future.  

77 We have continued to raise the profile of the Independent Visitor (IV) 
service and strengthened links between the IV service and the CiCC. 
This has led to a significant increase in requests for, and identification 
of, Independent Visitors with 55 children matched children with an 
Independent Visitor.   

How Child Participated in 
their CLA Review 

Total number of 
children 2021/22 

Total number of 
children 2022/23 

Child did not attend, views 
sent  

783 979 

Child did not attend or share 
views 

38 68 

Page 64



78 The IRO service is very proud of its success in achieving Investing in 
Children (IiC) Status Gold award for 10 years’ service to children and 
young people last year. We have continued to meet the criteria this year 
and are applying to renew this in 2023/24. 

79 The IRO service will lead on a project through 2023/24 to revise the 
children in care review process to ensure it is sufficiently innovative, 
child focused and aligned with the Signs of Safety framework, and we 
will engage our children in care to support with this. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Conclusion 

80 The IRO service has continued to effectively chair Child Protection 
Conferences and Child in Care reviews and review children’s plans 
throughout 2022-23 in a timely way. 

81 Whilst the number of children who are subject to child protection plans 
is on an upward trajectory over the last year, when considered within 
the context of National and Regional benchmarking data, this appears 
to be in line with our comparators.  

82 A focus for the coming year will be to increase child participation and 
attendance at child protection conferences and child in care reviews 
and use feedback from families to support further development of 
practice across the service. A significant piece of work will be to 
undertake a whole system review of the children in care review process 
to ensure it is sufficiently innovative, child focused and aligned with the 
Signs of Safety Framework 

The CIC Review was well run, times well and everyone in the 

meeting was able to participate well. The IRO was thorough and 

made sure everyone had all the information they needed. This 

was child centred and made sure that everyone knew what 

needed to happen for the children. The IRO was good at 

introducing the Signs of Safety practice model with the use of 

scaling questions before making any recommendations.  

From a professional 

M felt that she had not been 

supported as she should 

have been via her moving 

on support plan. M has felt 

very supported by her IRO 

through the process, in 

listening to her wishes and 

feelings and raising these on 

her behalf. 

Feedback from a young 

person through NYAS 

 

In closing, my wife L and I would like to thank you for all your 

involvement with K over the years from the bottom of our 

hearts.  A great many times you have been the voice of logic 

and reason when things were in some bad places.  For that 

we will remain eternally grateful. 

Feedback from a parent at their son’s exit from care review. 

 

Page 65



Background papers 

• None. 

Other useful documents 

• None. 

 

Authors 

Gemma Cross    Tel:  03000 267138 

Carmel Murray    Tel:  03000 262833 

  

Page 66



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The statutory duties of the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) are set out in 
section 25B (1) Children Act1989 with further statutory guidance contained in 
the IRO handbook, which sets out the IRO in relation to case management 
and review for looked after children. 
 
There are two clear and separate aspects to the function of the IRO: 
i. chairing the child’s review; and 
ii. monitoring the child’s case on an ongoing basis. 

Finance 

The report notes the additional investment made in the IRO service this year 

of two additional IRO posts. 

Consultation 

This report will be shared with the DSCP. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None. 

Climate Change 

None. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

Demand within the IRO service is currently being managed by additional IROs 

on an agency basis. These pressures are kept under regular review. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

None. 

Page 67



Procurement 

None. 

  

Page 68



Appendix 2:  Development Activity against Key Priorities and 
Practice Standards 2022/23 

 

2022/23 Priorities  Response 

Standard 1 

To actively seek, 
encourage and promote 
the voice of the child and 
their family in care 
planning.  

 

The IRO service has continued to champion 
the voices of children and their families within 
their reviews and care planning. 

A Task and Finish group is in the final stages 
of developing the feedback mechanism for 
children and families who attend child 
protection conferences to inform service 
delivery. Durham’s Children’s Participation 
Officer is involved to ensure we are asking the 
right questions, in an accessible way. It is 
anticipated that a new feedback system will go 
live in Autumn 2023. 

All IROs / Conference Chairs have their own 
Mind of My Own account which means that 
children and young people can share their 
thoughts, views and wishes with their IRO / 
Conference Chair directly and at any point 
during the review period. 

In October 2022 Children’s Services in 
Durham adopted an opt-out arrangement with 
NYAS meaning that all children over the age of 
11 who are being considered at an ICPC 
should be automatically referred by their Social 
Worker so that an advocate can be appointed 
to discuss with them how they can be 
supported to participate / share their views in 
their meeting.  

All IROs continue to raise the profile of NYAS 
and the Independent Visitor Scheme in 
meetings and discussions with social workers 
to ensure children have access to advocacy 
services to support their voice to be heard. 

We have launched the Journey Through Care 
Review Road Map (IRO Words and Pictures) 

Page 69



2022/23 Priorities  Response 

IROs support children to participate in their 
reviews and chair these where they wish to do 
so. 

The IRO service sends consultation forms to 
children and young people before their review 
meeting and encourage children to complete 
these for their meeting. 

IRO visits to children in care before their 
review meeting is improving however it is 
recognised this is an area for further 
development over the coming year. 

Standard 2 

To provide challenge, 
scrutiny and oversight of 
care planning and 
challenge where things 
have not progressed for a 
child or young person. 

Conference chairs are seeing improvement in 
relation to the quality of child protection plans 
which are aligned with the SOS practice 
approach.  

A focus for the coming year in relation to this 
standard will be on developing the consistency 
across the service of the conference chair 
approach to challenge when child protection 
plans are not progressing or in line with the 
child/family aspirations and needs and where 
protection plans have not been written with 
involvement of children and their families. 

IROs use the Resolution Process to effectively 
challenge drift and delay both informally and 
formally. They have curious conversations with 
social workers and managers to resolve issues 
as quickly as possible in the best interest of 
the child and escalate matters when required. 
All children who are placed in unregistered or 
unregulated care provisions have their 
arrangements scrutinised at level four or five 
ensuring the Senior Leadership Team and 
Head of Service have oversight of these 
arrangements to ensure swift and effective exit 
planning. 

All IRO’s are now routinely writing statements 
for the final hearing in care proceedings which 
reflect their involvement and scrutiny of the 
care planning process and their views about 

Page 70



2022/23 Priorities  Response 

the final care plan proposed by the Local 
Authority. 

Standard 3 

To promote effective 
working relationships 
where practitioners work 
systemically to improve 
outcomes for children and 
young people.  

 

In November 2022 the IRO service led a task 
and finish group to understand and address 
the barriers in relation to agency 
representation at ICPC’s and help partners to 
develop internal processes in relation to 
ensuring agency representation at ICPC.  We 
will monitor attendance and feed this on a 
quarterly basis into the DSCP as an assurance 
measure in the year ahead. 

In 2022/23, the IRO service led a multi-agency 
working group to create a single report 
template for child protection conferences and 
accompanying training and via consultation 
secured agreement from partners to adopt this 
across the partnership. This is due to be 
launched in September 2023.  

There is an IRO linked to each team within 
children’s services. The IRO attends their team 
meetings periodically to share practice themes 
and discuss strengths or worries that they may 
have.  

IROs arrange monitoring meetings and pre 
review discussions with social workers to 
ensure children’s care planning is on track and 
to prevent or challenge drift and delay. 

The IRO service managers offer an advisory 
role within several Panels and working groups 
in Children’s Social Care. These include 
Strategic Legal Panel; DSCP subgroups; 
Contextual Safeguarding Working Group; 
Advocacy Working Group; and the Voice and 
Change Group. IROs are linked to various 
partner agencies who are periodically invited 
to IRO Team Meetings which forges good 
working relationships and benefits mutual 
learning and development.  

Standard 4 The IRO service has continued to be involved 
in a range of quality assurance activity across 

Page 71



2022/23 Priorities  Response 

To promote quality 
assurance as an expert 
practitioner from a ‘birds-
eye view’ of practice, which 
will feed into change and 
shape service delivery for 
children and young people.  

 

Children’s Services and reported learning into 
the Quality Improvement Board, in addition to 
providing feedback on practice themes, data 
analysis and areas for development.  

All IROs have completed training in readiness 
for undertaking quarterly Collaborative 
Evaluations to further drive and develop 
service delivery for children and young people 
from April 2023.  

Service managers within the IRO service has 
undertaken Collaborative Evaluations on a 
quarterly basis. 

IROs undertake peer observations of new staff 
during their induction period to support 
professional development and consistency of 
IRO practice. Developing a regular peer review 
programme will be an area for further 
development over the coming year. 

Standard 5  

To have meaningful 
positive impact for the 
children and young people 
we seek to serve.  

 

An IRO is leading on developing a pilot for 
sending letters to children following their child 
protection conference in Autumn 2023. 

Audit activity and supervision demonstrates 
improved IRO oversight and impact on 
children’s file. Moving forwards, the service will 
be working on continuing to develop the 
consistency of the quality of IRO recordings 
and supporting children and young people to 
ensure they understand how to share positive 
news, challenge, or complain and ensure 
feedback is provided to them.  

Standard 6  

We will invest in our 
workforce to ensure social 
work practice will flourish.  

  

Preparation for Child Protection Conference’s 
Part Two training is currently in development 
with the DSCP. This has been revised to be a 
virtual session to increase reach and 
accessibility for partners and is due for roll out 
in late 2023.  

The service has remained stable with one IRO 
and one service manager who have left the 
service in the last year due to promotion within 

Page 72



2022/23 Priorities  Response 

Durham County Council’s Children in Care 
Service. There was a successful growth bid in 
early 2023 for two additional full time IROs. 
There have been some regional recruitment 
challenges and to date these posts are 
pending appointment.  

All staff have access to the extensive training 
programme within the Council. IROs have all 
completed the SOS 5-day advanced training 
course and are integral to the embedding of 
this practice model across the service. 

A newly appointed service manager joined the 
IRO service in January 2023 following 
progression of the previous postholder within 
Durham County Council which led to a 
vacancy within the service for a four-month 
period.  

IRO service managers attend the regional IRO 
Service Manager Group on a quarterly basis to 
feed into regional and national research and 
development. This group has been 
instrumental in developing regional IRO 
training (due to take place in November 2023) 
and seeking agreement from the ADCS in 
establishing Regional IRO Practice Forums to 
allow IROs to discuss and share good practice 
on a themed topic. Forum dates have been 
scheduled in September 2023 and January 
2024.  

 

 

  

Page 73



Appendix 3:  Planned development activity against the Key 
Priorities and Practice Standards 2023/24 

 

Area for Development Key Actions 
 

Standard 1 

To actively seek, 
encourage and promote 
the voice of the child and 
their family in planning.  

 

IRO service to revise the children in care 
review process to ensure it is sufficiently 
innovative, child focused and aligned with the 
Signs of Safety Framework. We will engage 
our children in care and their networks to 
inform and support with this. 

Increased evidence of IRO visits to children 
and young people. 

Collate feedback from MOMO statements and 
consultation forms to review and strengthen 
the voice of the child within their care journey.   

Launch the new feedback mechanism for 
children and families who attend child 
protection conferences. 

Continue to raise profile of NYAS / 
Independent Visitor and use of advocacy for 
both children in our care and children subject 
to child protection plans. 

Standard 2  

To provide challenge, 
scrutiny and oversight of 
care planning and 
challenge where things 
have not progressed for a 
children or young people. 

IROs/Conference Chairs will review and 
challenge where there is drift and delay in 
progressing child protection or care plans for 
children and young people. 

The IRO service will develop a methodology to 
understand the effectiveness of these 
challenges and analyse learning from the 
Resolution Process. 

IRO monthly practice clinics will focus on 
areas that require strengthening and we will 
use performance data to inform key themes.  

Peer and manager observations of meetings 
will take place which will provide further 
oversight and scrutiny of care planning and 

Page 74



Area for Development Key Actions 
 

ensure there is a consistent approach to 
chairing meetings. 

Standard 3 

 To promote effective 
working relationships 
where practitioners work 
systemically to improve 
outcomes for children and 
young people.  

 

IRO’s will continue to embed the Signs of 
Safety Model and have curious questions with 
practitioners to progress planning for children 
and young people subject to a child protection 
or care plan, in a timely manner. 

We will continue to strengthen working 
relationships across Children’s Services and 
with a wide range of partner agencies and 
service groups in the best interest of our 
children and families.  

IRO’s will continue to attend Team Meetings 
across the service to support effective and 
supportive communication between children’s 
social car teams and the IRO service. 

Monitoring meetings and pre meeting 
discussions for children on a child protection 
plan or care plan will support relationship 
building, whilst focusing on progress and 
outcomes for children and young people. 

Standard 4  

To promote quality 
assurance as an expert 
practitioner from a ‘birds-
eye view’ of practice, which 
will feed into change and 
shape service delivery for 
children and young people.  

 

IROs will complete quarterly collaborative 
audits which will directly inform and impact 
upon practice. 

The IRO service will provide quality assurance 
and learning from dip samples to the Quality 
Improvement Board (QIB).  

IROs will undertake peer observations of 
practice to inform learning and bring 
consistency. 

Standard 5  

To have meaningful 
positive impact for the 
children and young people 
we seek to serve.  

Improve on the consistency and quality of IRO 
oversight for children on files. This is to include 
pre review meeting discussions, monitoring 
meetings and visits to children and young 
people by their IRO.  

IRO service will have a continued focus and 
scrutiny on monitoring and supporting 

Page 75



Area for Development Key Actions 
 

 placement stability and permanence planning 
so that children in our care have a stable, 
permanent home in a timely way. 

Promote the use of MOMO and advocacy for 
children and young people so their voice is 
heard, and they share their views about 
decision making. 

IRO service to revise the children in care 
review process to ensure it is sufficiently 
innovative, child focused and aligned with the 
Signs of Safety Framework. We will engage 
our children in care and their networks to 
inform and support with this. 

Renew our Investing in Children Status in 
2023/24. 

Standard 6  

We will invest in our 
workforce to ensure social 
worker practice will flourish.  

  

All IROs have access to the Council’s annual 
training and development programme which 
supports their continuous professional 
development and renewal of their SWE 
registration. 

 
We will continue to work with the Regional 
North East Partnership to support learning and 
development. Three IROs will attend four 
training days along with IRO’s from across the 
region in November 2023 and share learning 
with the rest of the team. The focus of this 
training, delivered by Edgehill University will 
be on: 

• IRO’s and Contextualised Safeguarding. 

• The impact of the placement sufficiency 
crisis for children in care. 

• The challenges faced within Local 
Authorities and meeting the needs of 
UCAS.  

• A focused session on neglect. 

Preparation for Child Protection Conference’s 
Part Two training is currently in development 
with the DSCP. This has been revised to be a 

Page 76



Area for Development Key Actions 
 

virtual session to increase reach and 
accessibility for partners and is due for roll out 
in late 2023.  

Recruit suitably experienced IROs into the 
vacant posts to ensure caseloads are 
manageable to enable consistent oversight 
and scrutiny of care planning. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 77



Appendix 4:  IRO Guide for Children and Young People 

 

Attached as a separate document. 

 

 

Appendix 5:  IRO Words and Pictures 

 

Attached as a separate document. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 78



Independent 
Reviewing Officers
(IROs)

Page 79



Independent 
Reviewing Officers Meeting your IRO

How often will 
I have meetings?

What will we talk 
about at my meeting?

Before your meeting

When you come into care you will 
get an Independent Reviewing 
Officer, or IRO for short.  IROs work 
for the council, but we are not part 
of the social work teams that work 
with you. We are there to make sure 
that whatever is happening is right 
for you.

This means we can challenge 
decisions if we feel it is not the 
best thing for you. This could be 
about, where you live, who you 
live with, your education, health, 
who is important to you. We will 
listen to your views about these 
things and about how you can 
keep your connection with 
the people who are 
important to you.

We will look 
at your plan 
with you, and 
those who 
are involved 
in planning for 
your future, to 
make sure this 
is right for you. 
We can challenge 
workers if this plan 
is not meeting your 
needs or is not the right 
plan for your future.

Before you meet your IRO, they 
will send you their profile, which 
includes a picture and some 
information about them. It will 
also have their email address and 
phone numbers so that you can 
get in touch if there is anything 
you think they can help you with.

Within 28 days of coming into 
care you will have a meeting 
with your IRO called a child in 
care review.

Your IRO will also talk to your 
family, social worker and school 
and anyone involved in your 
care plan about how things are 
going for you, making sure that 
everything that should have 
happened has happened.

Your second meeting will be no 
later than 12 weeks after your first 
meeting. After that they will be 
every 6 months.

If you have any big changes in your 
life, we might have extra meetings 
so that we make sure that all the 
decisions are right for you and 
that you have been part of any 
decisions made.

Your IRO will keep in touch with you 
between meetings and will support 
you to talk about your views, 
wishes and feelings and make sure 
you are part of any decisions. 

If you want an earlier meeting for 
any reason, you can ask for one.

This could include:

• Helping you create a plan 
for your meeting

• Helping you work out what 
you want to say

• Supporting you to be involved 
in your meeting

• Supporting you to chair your 
meeting, if that is something 
you would like to do

We will talk about things such as:

• What was decided at your 
last meeting

• When you can see your family

• When you can see your friends

• What your family think

• What is in your care plan

• What you have been doing

• How school/college is going

• Your health

We want to make sure that we 
talk about things that are 

important to you. Your 
IRO will talk to you 

before your meeting 
to make sure that 
we know what your 
important things 
are. Your social 
worker will also 
talk to you to help 
decide who you 

want at your 
meeting.

We can meet you, in 
person or on a video call, 

before your meeting to help 
you be prepared. We will talk about 
what will happen in the meeting, 
and will listen to your views, 
wishes and feelings.

P
age 80



54930 Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



My Care Plan Journey...
Has 

insurance 
in case things 

go wrong 
(Contingency/
Safety Plan)

SATNAV
(The Plan)

Mirrors to 
be aware of 

the impact of 
others

Seat 
belts to 

keep me safe 
(Safety 
Plan)

Has 
enough 
petrol in 

case my plan 
changes 
direction

IRO
Pitstop
(My meeting)

Approved 
by my IRO

Makes 
sure people 
involved in  
my journey 

are safe

Takes 
me to 

things I 
enjoy

‘Signs 
of 

healing’

Storage for 
memorabilia 
(Life Story 

Work)

Moves 
on at the 

right pace 
for me

Plays 
music and 

listens to my 
choices what I 

like and  
don’t like  

Has 
spare tyre 

because of 
bumps along 

the way
Safe 

for long 
journeys

Has speakers 
so I can be 

heard 
(advocacy) Takes 

me to 
activities I 
am good 

at

Helps 
me get to 

where I want 
to be Exit 

Ahead

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 85

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 89

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 91

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 10 November 2023
	8 Use of Language for Children in Care - Presentation of Named Nurse for Children in Care, NHS
	Slide 1: Use of language for Children in Care
	Slide 2: A selection of 10 CiC health assessments were chosen at random.
	Slide 3: Improvement Findings:
	Slide 4: Positive Findings:

	9 Children in Care Council Update - Presentation of young people from the Children in Care Council
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6

	10 Care Leavers Service Positivitree - Report of Service Manager, Children and Young People's Services
	Item 10 - Positivitree - Presentation
	Slide 1: Care Leavers Service
	Slide 2: Background 
	Slide 3: What did we do in Durham 
	Slide 4
	Slide 5


	11 Performance Report Quarter 2 - Report of Corporate Equality and Strategy Manager
	Item 11 - Performance - Scorecard
	Item 11 - Performance - Presentation
	Slide 1: Children in our Care
	Slide 2: Children in our Care: 1,190
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5: Missing Children
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8


	12 Annual Report of the Independent Reviewing Officer Service -  Report of Operations Manager, Children and Young People's Services
	Item 12 - IRO - Appendix 4
	Item 12 - IRO - Appendix 5
	My Care Plan Journey...


	15 Regulation 44 Visits - Independent Children's Residential Homes - Report of Head of Integrated Commissioning Service
	Item 15 Appendix 2
	Item 15 Appendix 3




Accessibility Report


		Filename: 

		52743 CYPS My Care Plan Journey_ACCESSIBLE.pdf




		Report created by: 

		SAG01 - SAGE Assessment (COVID Interim), road.safety@durham.gov.uk

		Organization: 

		




 [Personal and organization information from the Preferences > Identity dialog.]


Summary


The checker found no problems in this document.


		Needs manual check: 0

		Passed manually: 0

		Failed manually: 0

		Skipped: 5

		Passed: 27

		Failed: 0




Detailed Report


		Document



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set

		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF

		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF

		Logical Reading Order		Skipped		Document structure provides a logical reading order

		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified

		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar

		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents

		Color contrast		Skipped		Document has appropriate color contrast

		Page Content



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged

		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged

		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order

		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided

		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged

		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker

		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts

		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses

		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive

		Forms



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Tagged form fields		Skipped		All form fields are tagged

		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description

		Alternate Text



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text

		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read

		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content

		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation

		Other elements alternate text		Passed		Other elements that require alternate text

		Tables



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot

		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR

		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers

		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column

		Summary		Skipped		Tables must have a summary

		Lists



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L

		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI

		Headings



		Rule Name		Status		Description

		Appropriate nesting		Skipped		Appropriate nesting






Back to Top
